1999

Utah v. Hansen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(c) (1996), where the defendant in a district court criminal action may take an appeal to the Court of Appeals from a final order for anything other than a first degree or capital felony offense. In the underlying case related to this appeal, Appellant Shayne M. Hansen ("Hansen") was convicted of illegal possession/use of a controlled substance, a third degree felony offense in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (1998). A copy of the judgment is attached hereto as Addendum A.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented for review is as follows: Whether the trial court erred in denying Hansen's motion to suppress evidence, where the officer conducted an unlawful, warrantless search.

Standard of Review: The standard applicable is bifurcated. "The factual findings of a trial court that underlie its decision to grant or deny a motion to suppress will not be

disturbed on appeal unless clearly erroneous." State v. Davis, 821 P.2d 9, 11 (Utah App. 1991); Salt Lake City v. Ray, 2000 UT App 55, ¶8, No. 99049-CA, slip op. at 3. The trial court's legal conclusions are reviewed for correctness, where "the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law." State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994); State v. Maguire, 1999 UT App 45, ¶5, 975 P.2d 476.

PRESERVATION OF ARGUMENT

The issue is preserved in the record on appeal (hereinafter "R.") at 23-25 and 84.

RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The following constitutional provision will be determinative of the issue on appeal: U.S. Const. amend. IV. The text of that provision is contained in the attached Addendum B.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, Disposition in the Court Below.

On February 18, 1999, the state filed an Information against Hansen, charging him with unlawful possession of a controlled substance, a third degree felony offense in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (1998), and unlawful possession of drug paraphernalia, a class B misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37a-5 (1998). (R. 2-3; 64, Findings of Fact ("FF") at ¶ 1.) On July 2, 1999, Hansen's counsel filed a motion to suppress evidence obtained during an unlawful and warrantless search. (R. 23-

25.)

On August 4, 1999, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the matter. (R. 49: 84.) Thereafter, the court issued findings of fact and conclusions of law denying the motion to suppress. (R. 63-69.) A copy of the trial court's findings and conclusions is attached hereto as Addendum C.

On August 20, 1999, Hansen entered into a conditional guilty plea, wherein he pled guilty to unlawful possession/use of a controlled substance, a third degree felony offense. The trial court dismissed the charge for drug paraphernalia and Hansen specifically "retain[ed] his right to appeal pursuant to State v. Sery, [758 P.2d 935, 940-41 (Utah App. 1988),]" the trial court's "denial of his motion to suppress." (R. 55: see also 58.) On October 22, 1999, the trial court ordered Hansen to serve an indeterminate prison term not to exceed five years, suspended the prison term, and placed Hansen on probation. (R. 70-71.) He is not incarcerated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 11, 1998, at approximately 11:15 p.m., Officer Bruce Huntington ("Officer Huntington") was traveling southbound in the area of Holden Street, Midvale, behind 20-year-old Hansen and a friend. (R. 84:6-7; 64, FF at ¶¶ 2-3.) Officer Huntington pulled behind Hansen's vehicle in the left-hand turn lane at an intersection, and he observed Hansen engage the left-hand turn signal to complete a turn to the outside lane of eastbound traffic. (R. 84:8-9; 64, FF at ¶¶ 5-6; 65, FF at ¶ 9.) According to

Officer Huntington, state law provides that a vehicle must "turn into the appropriate lane"; in this case, Hansen was required to turn into the inside lane of eastbound traffic. (R. 84:10; see also 64, FF at ¶ 8.)

Officer Huntington testified that the maneuver constituted an "improper lane change." (R. 84:12.) Before observing the turn, Officer Huntington initiated a computer check on the vehicle and learned that it was not insured. (R. 84:10; 65, FF at ¶¶ 10-11.) After Hansen completed the "improper lane change," Officer Huntington decided to pull the vehicle over, and he activated his overhead lights. (R. 84:10-11; 65, FF at ¶ 12.) Hansen pulled off the road and into a Maverick store parking lot with Officer Huntington behind him. (R. 84:11; 65, FF at ¶ 13.)

Officer Huntington was dressed in uniform with a firearm. (R. 84:8, 19.) He approached Hansen and explained the reason for the stop: "[I]mproper lane change and no insurance according to state records." (R. 84:12; 65, FF at ¶ 17.)

Hansen told Officer Huntington that he did not have insurance "because he could not afford it." (R. 84:12-13; 65, FF at ¶ 18.) Officer Huntington requested Hansen's driver's license and registration, then returned to his patrol car to run a computer check. The license was valid and there were no warrants outstanding for Hansen's arrest. (R. 84:13; 65, FF at ¶¶ 18-20.) As Officer Huntington returned to Hansen's car, a second officer arrived at the scene with overhead lights engaged. The second officer got out of his car. (R. 84:14, 36.)

Officer Huntington testified that he was "going to give [Hansen] a warning." (R. 84:16.) He told Hansen that the state required him to have automobile insurance and to mail proof of insurance to the Division of Motor Vehicles ("DMV"). (R. 84:16.)

Officer Huntington did not recall saying anything to Hansen with regard to the "improper lane change." (R. 84:32-34, 35, 38, 43-45; 65, FF at ¶ 21 (trial judge found only that Officer Huntington "warned [Hansen] that he had to obtain insurance for his car and to carry proof of insurance in the car": no indication that officer communicated to Hansen how he intended to resolve the "improper lane change" violation).)

Officer Huntington then handed the driver's license and registration to Hansen "and I asked him for consent to search the vehicle." (R. 84:16, 29, 38.) According to Officer Huntington, Hansen consented to a search. The specific facts relating to "consent" are as follows.

Officer Huntington stated it was his practice to ask for consent by asking, "Do you have any alcohol, weapons or drugs in the vehicle? And if they say no, I say, Well, do you mind if I check?" (R. 84:17; see 65, FF at ¶ 24.) Officer Huntington testified twice that Hansen answered "no" to the first question and "yes" to the second question. (R. 84:17-18, 38-40.) In an effort to clarify Officer Huntington's testimony on the matter, Judge Lewis asked further questions, and Officer Huntington rephrased his responses to provide legal conclusions without factual specifics:

[PROSECUTOR]: Do you recall Mr. Hansen responding to your question[s]?

A. He did give me consent

* * *

[PROSECUTOR]: And [] you asked, Do you mind [if] I check?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. And what was his response to that question?

A. He said yes.

[JUDGE LEWIS]: Yes, he minded?

THE WITNESS: Yes, I could have consent to search.

* * *

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: So you then indicated that you asked him if you could search the vehicle?

A. I did.

Q. Do you recall specifically what you said to him.

A. Not specifically.

Q. Do you have any idea?

A. I would imagine I stated: Do you have any alcohol, drugs or weapons in the vehicle?

Q. He said no?

A. He said no. Do you mind if I check?

Q. Okay.

A. And then he said yes.

[JUDGE LEWIS]: He said?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: He [said] yes.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

[JUDGE LEVINS]: Do you mind if I check and he said yes?

THE WITNESS: Well, do you mind if I check, and then yes, he gave me consent. Sorry.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: (Resuming)

Q. So you said he gave you consent?

A. Yes, he did give me consent.

Q. What did he say?

A. What?

Q. What did he say?

A. What did he say?

Q. Yeah.

A. I don't recall exactly other than it was consent.

Q. So you don't recall his exact words?

A. Not exactly.

Q. So are you assuming that he said yes?

A. I assume that he said yes.

Q. That's what you're doing today?

A. I'm sorry?

Q. That's what you're doing today?

A. That's what I'm doing today?

Q. Yes, in terms of his response.

A. I assume that he said yes.

Q. Nothing more than that?

A. He probably could have said yes, go ahead.

Q. But you don't recall him saying that?

A. I don't recall.

* * *

[PROSECUTOR]: Now, Officer Huntington, when you say the defendant gave his consent for you to check inside his vehicle, was it verbal.

A. It was verbal.

Q. Is it you just don't recall what the exact words were?

A. I don't recall the exact wording.

(R. 84:17-18, 38-40, 43.)¹

1 Officer Huntington twice provided specific testimony with respect to what was said to Hansen to obtain consent. Both times, Officer Huntington testified that he obtained consent by first asking if Hansen had alcohol, weapons, or drugs in the car. Both times, Officer Huntington testified that Hansen answered, "no." Both times, Officer Huntington testified that he then asked Hansen, "Do you mind if I check." Both times, Hansen answered "yes." (R. 84:17-18, 38-40.) Officer Huntington's specific testimony failed to support consent. If Officer Huntington asked Hansen, "Do you mind if I check," as represented, and Hansen said "yes," as represented, Officer Huntington did not have consent to search.

Apparently, Judge Lewis recognized the facts failed to support consent. Rather than accept the testimony that Officer Huntington twice presented, the judge twice interjected, causing Officer Huntington simply to conclude that Hansen gave consent without providing specific facts to support the conclusion. (R. 84:17-18, 38-40.)

Officer Huntington testified that in connection with obtaining consent to search, he did not make any promises to Hansen and he did not threaten him in any way. (R. 84:18.) Hansen and his friend stepped out of the car. Officer Huntington asked Hansen to place his hands on his head and he frisked Hansen for weapons. Officer Huntington then asked Hansen and his friend to stand next to the second officer while Officer Huntington searched the car. (R. 84:19, 23, 41-42.)

During the search of the car, Officer Huntington found a homemade billy club (R. 84:20) and a marijuana pipe on the floor in the driver's area of the car. (R. 84:21.) Officer Huntington asked "whose marijuana pipe it was" and Hansen said it was his. (R. 84:21.) Thereafter, Officer Huntington took Hansen into custody and performed a search incident to arrest. (R. 84:22.) During the search, Officer Huntington found a substance in Hansen's pocket that he believed to be a controlled substance. (R. 84:22.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A search following consent is valid only if (1) the consent was voluntarily given, and (2) the consent was not obtained by police exploitation of a prior illegality. State v. Ham, 910 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah App. 1996) (cites omitted). In this case, the consent was invalid.

The consent was not voluntarily given. Although Officer Huntington testified that Hansen provided consent to search the car, he was unable to provide "clear and positive testimony that the consent was 'unequivocal and specific' and 'freely and intelligently

given'." State v. Ham, 910 P.2d 433, 439 (Utah App. 1996). Rather, Officer Huntington testified that he "assumed" Hansen gave consent when Officer Huntington asked "Do you mind if I check [the car,]" and Hansen responded "yes." The evidence fails to support that Hansen gave voluntary consent to conduct the search. (R. 84:37-38.)

In addition, the consent was obtained by police exploitation of a prior illegality. The prior illegality in this case was an unlawful detention.

A detention following a routine traffic stop is generally limited to the following: The officer "may request a driver's license and vehicle registration, conduct a computer check, and issue a citation." State v. Robinson, 797 P.2d 431, 435 (Utah App. 1990) (citing United States v. Guzman, 864 F.2d 1512, 1519 (10th Cir. 1988)); State v. Humphrey, 937 P.2d 137, 144 (Utah App. 1997). An officer may not make further inquiry of the detainee and he may not extend the scope of a detention beyond that set forth in Robinson unless he is able to articulate probable cause or reasonable suspicion supporting a basis for the continued detention.

In this case, Officer Huntington detained Hansen in a routine traffic stop for making an "improper lane change" and failing to insure his vehicle. During the detention, Officer Huntington examined Hansen's license and vehicle registration, conducted computer checks, and informed Hansen that he would be required to insure his vehicle and to send proof of insurance to the DMV. Thereafter, Officer Huntington testified that he returned Hansen's license and registration to him and asked whether

Hansen had any alcohol, weapons or drugs in the car. When Hansen answered no, Officer Huntington asked to conduct a search.

Officer Huntington exceeded the scope of the permissible detention. He failed to limit the encounter to examination of the license and registration, a computer check and the issuance of a warning or citation. Rather, he extended the scope of the detention without justification for the purpose of inquiring into drug-related activity. The continued detention was unlawful; it poisoned the subsequent consent to search.

ARGUMENT

THE EVIDENCE FAILS TO SUPPORT A VALID CONSENT TO SUPPORT THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH OF THE CAR AND THE SUBSEQUENT SEARCH INCIDENT TO ARREST.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides the following:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. amend. IV. Unless a governmental agency has secured a valid warrant to conduct a search, the search is presumptively unlawful, "subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions." Katz v. U.S., 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967); see Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980); State v. Gallegos, 967 P.2d 973, 976 (Utah App. 1998) (quoting State v. Holmes, 774 P.2d 506, 510 (Utah App. 1989)); State v. Ham, 910 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah App. 1996).

One of the "specifically established" exceptions to the warrant requirement is

consent. Ham, 910 P.2d at 438-39; State v. Arroyo, 796 P.2d 684, 687 (Utah 1990); State v. Sepulveda, 842 P.2d 913, 918 (Utah App. 1992). According to case law,

A search following consent [] is valid only if “(1) the consent was voluntarily given, and (2) the consent was not obtained by police exploitation of the prior illegality.” [State v. Harmon, 854 P.2d 1037, 1040 (Utah App. 1993), aff’d, 910 P.2d 1196 (Utah 1995); accord State v. Arroyo, 796 P.2d 684, 688 (Utah 1990)]. It is the State’s burden to prove that a consent was voluntarily given. [State v. Thurman, 846 P.2d 1256, 1263 (Utah 1993)]; State v. Robinson, 797 P.2d 431, 437 (Utah App. 1990). If the State fails to meet this burden, the evidence is deemed inadmissible against the defendant. Robinson, 797 P.2d at 437.

Ham, 910 P.2d at 438-39 (footnote omitted).

In this case, as set forth below, the state failed to present a factual basis to support the determination that the consent was voluntary. See Point A., infra. In addition, after Officer Huntington completed the purpose of the stop, he detained Hansen for further questioning. The further questioning was not reasonably related to the circumstances which justified the stop in the first place. Therefore, it violated Hansen’s rights under the Fourth Amendment. The consent was obtained by police exploitation of a prior illegality. See Point B., infra.

A. THE CONSENT WAS NOT VOLUNTARILY GIVEN.

This Court has established an analytical framework for determining whether the state has met its burden of proving that consent was voluntarily given.

“(1) There must be clear and positive testimony that the consent was ‘unequivocal and specific’ and ‘freely and intelligently given’; (2) the government must prove consent was given without duress or coercion, express or implied; and (3) [when evaluating these first two standards, we] indulge every reasonable presumption against the waiver of fundamental constitutional rights and there must be

convincing evidence that such rights were waived.”

Ham, 910 P.2d at 439 (cites omitted). In this matter, the state cannot establish the first factor. As set forth below, the findings supporting “voluntary” consent are clearly erroneous: Officer Huntington was not able to provide “clear and positive” testimony that the consent to search was “‘unequivocal and specific’ and ‘freely and intelligently given.’” Ham, 910 P.2d at 439 (cites omitted).²

1. The Marshaled Facts Fail to Support Unequivocal and Specific Consent.

In considering search and seizure issues, this Court will not disturb the trial court’s findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Davis, 821 P.2d 9, 11 (Utah App. 1991). While the facts will be construed in the light most favorable to the findings, this Court nevertheless will “review the facts in detail.” State v. Jackson, 805 P.2d 765, 766 (Utah App. 1990). Also, “[a] finding not supported by substantial, competent evidence must be rejected.” Arroyo, 796 P.2d at 687. If the evidence does not support a finding, the finding is clearly erroneous. Id.

In this matter, the trial court’s findings supporting voluntary consent are clearly

² In determining whether consent was obtained by use of coercion or duress, this Court considers the following factors: “1) the absence of a claim of authority to search by the officers; 2) the absence of an exhibition of force by the officers; 3) a mere request to search; 4) cooperation by the [defendant]; and 5) the absence of deception or trick on the part of the officer.” Ham, 910 P.2d at 439. In this case, Officer Huntington demonstrated authority and force to search when he stood outside the car with a second -- and later third -- officer at the scene. (R. 84:14, 19-20.) The officers also had engaged overhead lights on their patrol cars in a show of authority; and at least Officer Huntington was armed. (R. 84:19, 37.)

erroneous. Hansen challenges the following findings as insupportable.

“27. Officer Huntington then asked defendant whether he could search his car.”

(R. 66.)

“28. The officer’s question was permissive and did not suggest that he had a right to search.”

(R. 66.)

“29. Defendant clearly and unequivocally said ‘yes,’ permitting the search.”

(R. 66.)

The marshaled evidence relating to the findings reflects the following: Officer Huntington testified that he assumed Hansen provided consent to conduct the search. Also, Officer Huntington could not recall what was said to obtain that consent. Rather, the only clear, positive, specific testimony that he could provide concerning the situation supported the opposite conclusion: that is, Hansen did not provide consent.

Specifically, Officer Huntington testified that it was his practice to ask a car occupant for consent by stating, “Do you have any alcohol, weapons, or drugs in the vehicle? And if they say no, I say, Well, do you mind if I check?” (R. 84:17; see 65, FF at ¶ 24.) Officer Huntington testified twice that he asked those questions of Hansen; Hansen answered “no” to the first question, and “yes” to the second question. (R. 84:17-18, 38-40.) Judge Lewis apparently recognized that Officer Huntington’s testimony would not support consent. She alerted Officer Huntington to the problem. (R. 84:17-18; 84:43-44). Thereafter, Officer Huntington rephrased his response and provided legal

conclusions that Hansen “did give me consent,” “he gave me consent,” and “I assume that he said yes” for consent. (R. 84:17-18, 38-40, 43.) Officer Huntington was unable to provide a factual basis to support the conclusions.

There is no testimony to support that Officer Huntington “asked defendant whether he could search his car” (see R. 66, FF at ¶ 27), or that such a question was “permissive and did not suggest that he had a right to search” (see R. 66, FF at ¶ 28). In addition, the record fails to provide a factual basis for the trial court’s finding that “Defendant clearly and unequivocally said ‘yes,’ permitting the search.” (R. 66, FF at ¶ 29.) Indeed, the only facts presented by Officer Huntington’s testimony support the determination that Hansen clearly and unequivocally said yes to Officer Huntington’s specific question, “Do you mind if I check?” (R. 84:17-18, 38-40.) That evidence supports the determination that Hansen objected to the search.

2. Pursuant to this Court’s Ruling in *Ham* the Record Fails to Support Voluntary Consent.

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