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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should no longer rely on the language in *United States v. Abbott*, 546 F.2d 883 (10th Cir. 1977), as the analytical framework for determining whether a consent to search is voluntary. The requirements articulated in *Abbott* applied to the broader issue of whether a search was valid pursuant to an *alleged* consent. *Abbott* thus intertwined the

¹Officer Huntington testified that he found a controlled substance on defendant’s person in a search incident to arrest. R. 84: 22. Defendant admitted at the plea hearing that the substance was methamphetamine. R. 56; R. 85:10-11.

requirements for finding consent with the requirements for finding voluntariness. The intertwining of those requirements is of no consequence in the Tenth Circuit because it reviews for clear error both the trial court's finding of consent and the trial court's finding of voluntariness. However, under Utah law, those requirements must be clearly distinguished because of the appellate court's bifurcated review in consent cases. The trial court's finding that defendant consented to the search of his car is reviewed by this Court for clear error. The trial court's determination that the consent was voluntary is reviewed for correctness. Moreover, the *Abbott* presumption against a finding of voluntariness has since been rejected by the Tenth Circuit and is contrary to United States Supreme Court precedent. In this case, the trial court's finding that defendant consented to Officer Huntington's request to search the car was not clearly erroneous, but was supported by the unequivocal testimony of Officer Huntington. Moreover, because the evidence demonstrated that the officer did not coerce defendant into consenting, the trial court correctly concluded that defendant's consent was voluntary.

Nor was defendant's consent the result of a prior illegality. The detention of defendant terminated after Officer Huntington warned defendant to obtain insurance and returned to defendant his license and registration. Defendant voluntarily chose to respond to the officer's questioning after the detention terminated.

ARGUMENT

On appeal, defendant claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress the methamphetamine discovered in the search. Aplt. Brf. at 11. Defendant argues

that the warrantless search of his car violated his Fourth Amendment right against unreasonable searches and seizures, contending that police did not obtain a valid consent to search the vehicle and that, in any event, the consent was tainted by the prior illegal detention. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 13-17, 19-27. Contrary to defendant's claim, however, the evidence was more than sufficient to establish defendant's voluntary consent to search his car. Moreover, because the questions posed by Officer Huntington were made after defendant was free to leave, they did not violate defendant's Fourth Amendment rights. Accordingly, this Court should affirm defendant's conviction.

* * *

"Searches conducted 'outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.'" *State v. Arroyo*, 796 P.2d 684, 687 (Utah 1990) (*quoting Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S.Ct. 507, 514 (1967)). "[O]ne of the specifically established exceptions to the requirements of both a warrant and probable cause is a search that is conducted pursuant to consent." *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 219, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2043-44 (1973). *Accord State v. Bredehoft*, 966 P.2d 285, 292 (Utah App. 1998).

Evidence seized in a consent search will be admissible in court if: (1) the consent was voluntary, and (2) the consent was not obtained by police exploitation of a prior illegality. *Arroyo*, 796 P.2d at 688. In this case, defendant's consent was voluntary and was not obtained as the result of a prior illegality.

I. THE SEARCH OF DEFENDANT’S CAR WAS JUSTIFIED UNDER THE CONSENT EXCEPTION TO THE WARRANT AND PROBABLE CAUSE REQUIREMENT.

A. Legal Analysis of Consent Searches.

On appeal, defendant argues that this Court’s decision in *State v. Ham*, 910 P.2d 433 (Utah App. 1996), establishes the analytical framework for determining whether the consent was voluntary. Aplt. Brf. at 12-13. *Ham* relies on language from the 1977 Tenth Circuit decision in *United States v. Abbott*, 546 F.2d 883 (10th Cir. 1977), for the standard by which voluntariness of a consent is analyzed. Quoting *Abbott*, the Court in *Ham* held that the following three requirements must be met to establish that voluntary consent was given:

“(1) There must be clear and positive testimony that the consent was ‘unequivocal and specific’ and ‘freely and intelligently’ given; (2) the government must prove consent was given without duress or coercion, express or implied; and (3) [when evaluating these first two standards, []] the courts indulge every reasonable presumption against the waiver of fundamental constitutional rights and there must be convincing evidence that such rights were waived.”

Ham, 910 P.2d at 439 (quoting *Abbott*, 546 F.2d at 885) (other citations omitted). *Ham* is the most recent of a series of decisions by this Court which applies the *Abbott* standard to voluntariness determinations. See, e.g., *State v. Genovesi*, 871 P.2d 547, 551 (Utah App. 1994); *State v. Harmon*, 854 P.2d 1037, 1040 (Utah App. 1993), *aff’d*, 910 P.2d 1196 (Utah 1996); *State v. Carter*, 812 P.2d 460, 467 (Utah App. 1991); *State v. Grovier*, 808 P.2d 133, 136 (Utah App. 1991); *State v. Sterger*, 808 P.2d 122, 127 (Utah App. 1991); *State v. Marshall*, 791 P.2d 880, 887-88 (Utah App. 1990); *State v. Webb*, 790 P.2d 65, 82 (Utah

App. 1990). The Utah Supreme Court, however, has never adopted the *Abbott* standard in assessing the voluntariness of a consent.²

A close examination of the *Abbott* decision itself, in light of both federal and state law, suggests that the Court should no longer rely on the *Abbott* standard in analyzing the voluntariness of a consent search. Continued reliance on the *Abbott* standard is problematic for two reasons. First, the third *Abbott* requirement creating a presumption against waiver has since been rejected by the Tenth Circuit and is contrary to United States Supreme Court precedent. Second, the remaining two requirements co-mingle the issue of whether consent was in fact given with the issue of whether any consent given was voluntary. This co-mingling of the issues is significant because unlike the Tenth Circuit, Utah appellate courts review the trial court's determination of voluntariness for correctness.

1. No Presumption Exists Against a Voluntary Consent.

The third prong of the *Abbott* standard as adopted in *Ham* and other appellate decisions of this Court is that the court must “indulge every reasonable presumption against the waiver of fundamental constitutional rights and there must be convincing evidence that such rights were waived.” *Abbott*, 546 F.2d at 885. Four years later, however, the United States Supreme Court in *Schneckloth* held that “unlike those constitutional guarantees that protect a defendant at trial, it *cannot* be said every reasonable presumption ought to be

²Although the Utah Court of Appeals applied the *Abbott* standard in *Harmon*, 854 P.2d at 1040, in affirming that decision, the Utah Supreme Court did not adopt that standard. *See State v. Harmon*, 910 P.2d 1196, 1206-08 (Utah 1996). Instead, the Utah Supreme Court focused solely on whether the consent was “the product of duress and coercion.” *Id.* at 1206.

indulged against voluntary relinquishment” of the right against searches. 412 U.S. at 242-43, 93 S.Ct. at 2056 (emphasis added). Citing *Schneckloth*, the Tenth Circuit abandoned the third *Abbott* requirement in 1991, holding that “a district court determining the admissibility of evidence should not presume a defendant’s consent to a search is either involuntary or voluntary.” *United States v. Price*, 925 F.2d 1268, 1271 (10th Cir. 1991) (citing *Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 242-43, 93 S.Ct. at 2055-56); accord *United States v. Hernandez*, 93 F.3d 1493, 1500 (10th Cir. 1996).

Given the Supreme Court’s holding that such a presumption should not be given and the Tenth Circuit’s subsequent abandonment of the presumption, this Court is constrained to now abandon that requirement as well.

2. The Factual Determination of Whether a Consent is Unequivocal and Specific Is Distinct from the Legal Determination of Whether a Consent is Voluntary.

The Tenth Circuit’s concern in *Abbott* was not confined to the voluntariness of the consent, but included the sufficiency of the evidence establishing that consent was given at all. As such, in setting forth the standard for determining whether the search was justified under the consent exception, the Tenth Circuit intermingled the requirements for finding the existence of a consent to search with the requirements for finding that any consent given was voluntary.

Voluntary consent presupposes consent. The *Abbott* requirement that consent be “unequivocal and specific” simply requires the State to establish the existence and scope of the consent. Once consent is demonstrated, the State must establish that the consent was

voluntary—that it was given freely, without duress or coercion. Whether consent was in fact given, and the scope of that consent, are underlying factual issues separate from the legal issue of voluntariness. Accordingly, when determining whether a defendant actually consented to a particular search, this Court will not upset the trial court’s factual findings in that regard unless they are clearly erroneous. *Ham*, 910 P.2d at 438. Once those factual issues are addressed, the Court may then turn to the legal determination of whether the consent given was voluntary. *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1271 (Utah 1993).

The Abbott Standard. *In Abbott*, the defendant was placed in jail and his car was impounded following his arrest for illegal automobile registration and possession of a weapon. *Abbott*, 546 F.2d at 884. After Abbott’s arrest, his wife went to the impound garage seeking release of the car. *Id.* At the garage, she and an officer unsuccessfully searched the car’s passenger compartment for the title to the car. *Id.* Because she did not have a trunk key, she was unable to look in the trunk of the car for the title, and returned home to look for the key. *Id.* After she left, an officer located a key in the lining of Abbott’s coat pocket. *Id.* Although Abbott’s wife had not returned, the officer nevertheless opened the trunk where he discovered a .30 caliber carbine which became the subject of Abbott’s prosecution. *Id.* The trial court denied Abbott’s motion to suppress the evidence, finding that Abbott’s wife implicitly consented to the officer’s search of the trunk. *Id.* at 884.

In reversing the trial court, the Tenth Circuit held that the aforementioned requirements were necessary to “sustain the burden required of the government to establish justification for a warrantless search” pursuant to a consent. *Id.* at 885. The court did *not*

characterize the standard solely in terms of assessing the voluntariness of a consent—though voluntariness was certainly a key component. The *Abbott* test required the government to first establish that the consent was actually given to search the defendant’ trunk, and second, to establish that any consent given was voluntary.

In articulating the standard by which consent searches are judged, the Tenth Circuit in *Abbott* cited to *Villano v. United States*, 310 F.2d 680 (10th Cir. 1962). *Abbott*, 546 F.2d at 885. As in *Abbott*, the court in *Villano* addressed the broader question of whether evidence seized in a warrantless search was constitutionally admissible pursuant to an alleged consent. *Villano*, 310 F.2d at 684. *Villano* summarized the government’s burden as follows:

The government must prove that consent was given. It must show that there was no duress or coercion, express or implied. The consent must be unequivocal and specific and freely and intelligently given. There must be convincing evidence that defendant has waived his rights. There must be clear and positive testimony. Courts indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of fundamental constitutional rights. Coercion is implicit in situations where consent is obtained under color of the badge, and the government must show that there was no coercion in fact.

Id. (internal quotations and citations omitted). Although the *Villano* articulation of the standard is only slightly better, its clarity greatly increases when broken up as follows:

The government must prove that consent was given. It must show that there was no duress or coercion, express or implied. [In other words,] [t]he consent must be unequivocal and specific and freely and intelligently given.

There must be convincing evidence that defendant has waived his rights. There must be clear and positive testimony. Courts indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of fundamental constitutional rights. Coercion is implicit in situations where consent is obtained under color of the badge, and the government must show that there was no coercion in fact.

Id. Organized in this manner, it is apparent that the certainty and specificity of the consent have nothing to do with the voluntariness of the consent, but are prerequisites to any consideration of voluntariness. The revised construction also reveals that the court required that *the testimony of waiver* be clear and positive. As discussed above, however, the Tenth Circuit no longer indulges in a presumption against waiver.

In summary, the appropriate standard by which consent searches should be judged is best articulated as follows:

Evidence seized in a search is admissible under the consent exception to the warrant requirement only if the State meets a two-part test. First, the State must “prove that consent was given.” *Villano*, 310 F.2d at 684. The consent must be “unequivocal and specific.” *Abbott*, 546 F.2d at 885. Second, the State must establish that the consent was voluntary. In other words, the State must “prove consent was given without duress or coercion, express or implied.” *Id.*

The two-part inquiry is consistent with United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Schneckloth*, the Supreme Court observed that Fourth Amendment concerns with respect to voluntariness of a consent to search are similar to due process concerns with respect to voluntariness of a confession. 412 U.S. at 225-27, 93 S.Ct. at 2047-48. Explaining the concerns in the context of a confession, the High Court noted:

The Due Process Clause does not mandate that the police forgo all questioning, or that they be given carte blanche to extract what they can from a suspect. “The ultimate test remains that which has been the only clearly established test in Anglo-American courts for two hundred years: *the test of voluntariness. Is the confession the product of an essentially free and unconstrained choice by its maker?* If it is, if he has willed to confess, it may be used against him. If it is not, if his will has been overborne and his capacity for self-determination critically impaired, the use of his confession offends due process.”

412 U.S. at 225-26, 93 S.Ct. at 2047 (*quoting Culombe v. Connecticut*, 367 U.S. 568, 602, 81 S.Ct. 1860, 1879 (19--)) (emphasis added). The Supreme Court concluded that no reason existed “to depart in the area of consent searches, from the traditional definition of ‘voluntariness.’” *Id.* at 229, 93 S.Ct. at 2049. As such, the Court observed, “***the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments [simply] require that a consent [to search] not be coerced, by explicit or implicit means, by implied threat or covert force.***” *Id.* at 228, 93 S.Ct. at 2048 (emphasis added). Thus, “if under all the circumstances it has appeared that the consent was not given voluntarily--that it was coerced by threats or force, or granted only in submission to a claim of lawful authority--then [the Court will find] the consent invalid and the search unreasonable.” *Id.* at 233, 93 S.Ct. at 2051.

Abbott’s requirement that the consent be freely given and made “without duress or coercion, express or implied,” is consistent with the holding in *Schneckloth*. *Abbott*’s requirement that the consent be “unequivocal and specific” goes to the underlying factual issues of whether any consent was in fact given, and if so, the scope of that consent. In short, the certainty and specificity of the consent have nothing to do with the voluntariness of the consent, and *Abbott* did not suggest otherwise.³

³Subsequent Tenth Circuit decisions have included the certainty and specificity requirement in the test for voluntariness. *See, e.g., United States v. Soto*, 988 F.2d 1548, 1557 (10th Cir. 1993). However, as discussed below, the intertwining of requirements that the State establish unequivocal and specific consent with requirements that the State demonstrate the consent was given freely without duress or coercion is of no consequence in the Tenth Circuit.

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